1986

Israel Pagan v. Joseph N. Cannon, Dorius Black,  
Alpha Leasing Company, Robert D. Apgood,  
Joseph N. Cannon, Dorius Black, and Richard  
McKean, Alpha Leasing Company, Bill Brown  
Realty Incorporated, Scott Peatross, Stewart Title  
Company of Utah, Tommy W. Sisk, Capitol Thrift  
and Loan, Backman Title Company, Merlyn Hanks  
: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the evidence supports a finding of conspiracy to defraud.

2. Whether the trial court erred by allowing the matter to go to the jury and not granting a directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict in favor of the Appellant.

3. Whether the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury, numbers 21, 26 and 27, where in the burden for finding punitive damages was stated to be by "the preponderance" of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff brought an action against each of the Defendants on the theory that they conspired to defraud him of his home.

On August 21-23, 1984, the Plaintiff's action came on for trial before a jury in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable J. Dennis Fredrick presiding. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff and awarded both compensatory and punitive damages. After the verdict was returned, the Appellant's motions for directed verdict and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict were considered resolved and

therefore denied. T. 421. Subsequently, the judgment entered was appealed to this court.

Sometime prior to August 18, 1980, the Plaintiff listed his property with Century 21-Harv Kirkpatrick for the sales price of \$44,000. T. 84. Dorius Black, through Scott Peatross who was a real estate agent with Bill Brown Realty, presented an offer to the Plaintiff and his real estate agents, Vicki Phelps and Harv Kirkpatrick. T. 277. This offer, presented by way of an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase, provided for \$20,000.00, including \$1,000.00 earnest money, to be paid to the Plaintiff at closing with the remaining \$24,000 being deferred one year and paid over a two year period. E.23. T. 278. After some negotiation, the offer was accepted by the Plaintiff on July 30, 1980. Those participating in the negotiations were the Plaintiff, through his interpreter, Emilio Ortiz; the Plaintiff's agents, Vicki Phelps and Harv Kirkpatrick; and Mr. Black and his agent Scott Peatross. T. 282, 286.

Although Mr. Black negotiated the purchase of the home, he never intended to actually buy the home himself. T. 19. During this time, he and Joseph Cannon had been involved



in several business deals together. Mr. Black looked for business opportunities which, with the help of Mr. Cannon's strong financial position, could be taken advantage of to increase and strengthen their respective business interests. T.19. Although not mentioning the Plaintiff by name, Mr. Black represented to Mr. Cannon that he had a project that would help him with his lease obligations to Alpha Leasing. T. 104. Mr. Cannon first met the Plaintiff at the time of closing at the offices of Stewart Title. T.87.

Also during this time, Mr. Black approached Capitol Thrift and Loan (the Appellant) about receiving a loan for the purchase of the home. T.21. The lender never met the Plaintiff. In fact, in making the loan, the lender was not involved with the Plaintiff as seller. T. 138, 389. As the value of the home appeared an acceptable risk for a loan, the lender indicated money could be made available. T. 22. Other than providing the financing for the purchase of the home, the lender was not a party to the plans of Mr. Black and Mr. Cannon to purchase the home. T.50.

Subsequently, Mr. Cannon filled out an application with the lender for a business loan to purchase

Plaintiff's property. T.120. Ex 34. Along with the application, Mr. Cannon provided a personal financial statement as well as a financial statement for Alpha Leasing Company, a partnership in which Mr. Cannon held a partnership interest T. 137 Ex. 35-36. An appraisal had earlier been done on the home and was verified by Merlyn Hanks, a loan officer for the lender. T. 137. Based on the value of the home and the financial strength of Mr. Cannon, the lender agreed to extend \$32,325.00 to Mr. Cannon for the purchase of the home.

Accordingly, on August 18, 1980, the day appointed for closing, a check for that amount was delivered to Stewart Title Company with instructions on how and when the check could be negotiated and disbursed. T. 139. Ex. 1. Mr. Cannon denied endorsing the check, but did acknowledge receiving the disbursements according to the instructions. T. 101. The letter of instructions required that fee simple title to the property be in the name of Joseph N. Cannon. The letter of instructions also provided that a Trust Deed in favor of the Appellant be recorded as a first trust deed subject to no other liens or incumbrances. In addition,

Stewart Title was instructed to disburse the funds as follows: (1) \$4848.75, to Capitol Thrift & Loan, (2) fees for recording title and for an insurance policy and (3) the remainder of the funds to Joseph N. Cannon or as he directed.

Scott Peatross, with the Earnest Money Receipt and Offer, contacted Tommy Sisk of Stewart Title and scheduled August 18, 1980 as the time for closing. T. 216. The Plaintiff along with his interpreter, Emilio Ortiz, Tommy Sisk of Stewart Title Company, Scott Peatross of Bill Brown Realty, Joseph Cannon, Dorius Black, and Jack Rhodes and Vickie Phelps of Century 21-Harv Kirkpatrick were present. T.194,106. Because of a delay, Mrs. Phelps left before the closing actually took place and was replaced by Mr. Rhodes. T.279,244.

The delay resulted from changes made at the request of Mr. Black at the time of closing as to where title would lie. T. 230,334. Each of the parties were explained the changes and were explained the documents conveying title to Mr. Cannon. Each party accepted the changes. T.229, 262, 320. Such changes at the time of

closing are usual in real estate transactions. T.230, 334. In addition, the substitution of Mr. Cannon as title holder complied with the provision of the Earnest Money Agreement to determine the title holder at the time of conveyance. T. 217. Although Mr. Cannon maintained that he understood his role in the transaction to be that of a guarantor, he acknowledged signing the documents which clearly show the contrary. T. 93-99. There was no dispute as to their legal effect.

The closing statements indicated that the \$24,000.00 left owing was to be secured by a second deed of trust. Ex. 20 and 27. These documents were explained to the Plaintiff and it was discussed that the total of the first and second trust deeds would exceed the \$44,000.00 sales price, although the exact figure was not known at that time. T. 213. The risk involved was explained to the Plaintiff by Mr. Sisk as well as the Plaintiff's agents. Although the risk was explained, it was generally assumed by the Plaintiff's agents that the first mortgage would not be an amount above \$20,000. T. 251. Although this was assumed, the only representation made was that the buyer would borrow

the \$20,000.00 needed for the down payment. T. 250. There was no limitation expressed in the Ernest Money Agreement or otherwise. T. 249, 287.

The note and Trust Deed in favor of the lender were prepared at the lender's office. T. 242. Stewart Title had nothing to do with the lender except as set forth in the letter of instructions. Stewart Title, in fact had no prior conversations with anyone other than Scott Peatross who scheduled the closing. T. 228. The documents along with the check did not arrive until after the closing had taken place. T. 208. Mr. Rhodes, the agent for the Plaintiff, waited around to see that they arrived but left before reviewing the documents. T. 264. There was no dispute as to the legal effect of the documents executed by the parties.

Stewart Title proceeded according to the Ernest Money Agreement it received and the letter of instructions by recording a first Trust Deed in favor of the lender. T. 236. There was no objection by the Plaintiff's real estate agents to the Plaintiff's interest being secured by a second deed of trust. T. 241. In fact, an escrow account was set up to handle the second trust deed in favor of the Plaintiff. As

part of the escrow instructions, the sellers representative was listed as Leonor C. Pagan, the Plaintiff's daughter. T. 303. Ex. 16.

Complying with the lender's instructions to protect its interest with a first trust deed, Stewart Title proceeded to disburse the funds as required. Each fee paid by Stewart Title was normal and customary.

Having received the down payment, the Plaintiff left for Puerto Rico where he was summoned back by his interpreter, Emilio Ortiz, to instigate this lawsuit. The Plaintiff, having received a serious head injury from an industrial accident, was described as being of "low normal range" of intelligence. T. 66. Plaintiff's mental capacity is difficult to determine unless tested. T. 75. The Plaintiff was able to reach a settlement with Kennecott over his injury and to buy the home which is the subject of the current action. T. 77. The Plaintiff had difficulty understanding English and was assisted in all aspects of the transaction by Emilio Ortiz, his interpreter. Everyone, including the Plaintiff's agents, felt and assumed that the Plaintiff understood and was competent to understand the

transaction he consumated. T. 267, 282, 374.

The loan to Mr. Cannon for the purchase of the home was made when Mr. Cannon was in good financial condition. T. 386, 389, 394. The terms of the loan provided for five installments with a balloon payment for the full amount due in six months. T. 145. Such terms were customary for the type of lender the Appellant was and for the time the loan was made. T. 161, 392. The note subsequently came into default.

Notice of default was mailed and Mr. Cannon asked for and received a couple of extensions. T. 163. Some payments were paid on the loan. However, the defaults continued and the property ultimately was foreclosed, with a deficiency being sought against Mr. Cannon. T. 166.

With the foreclosure of the home, the Plaintiff brought this action. Although alleging a cause of action against the Appellant in his complaint, the Plaintiff testified that he did not claim a cause of action against the Appellant. T. 274.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The jury's finding that the Appellant conspired to defraud the Plaintiff is not supported by the direct evidence or by circumstantial evidence which can be reasonably and naturally inferred. The verdict is based solely on suspicion and on sympathy for the Plaintiff. The jury instructions on punitive damages introduced a conflicting standard of proof which was confusing and prejudicial to the ultimate finding of the underlying cause of action.

ARGUMENT

I

THE VERDICT WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

The standard of review of a jury verdict has been stated by the court recently as follows:

It is the exclusive province of a jury to determine the credibility of the witnesses, weigh the evidence, and make findings of fact. (citation omitted). Where the evidence is conflicting and the jury is properly instructed, we do not upset those findings of fact except upon a showing that the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict so clearly preponderated in Appellant's favor that reasonable persons could not differ on the outcome of the case.



Groen vs. Tri-O-Inc., Utah, 667 P. 2d 598 (1983). See also E.A. Strout Western Realty vs. W. C. Foy & Sons, Utah, 665 P. 2d 1320 (1983).

The jury in the instant case found by special verdict that the lender, the Title Company and Joseph Cannon engaged in a civil conspiracy to defraud the Plaintiff of his home. To determine whether the evidence preponderated in lender's favor to where reasonable minds would not differ, requires that civil conspiracy and fraud be defined.

A civil conspiracy has been defined as a combination of two or more persons by concerted action to accomplish an unlawful purpose, or to accomplish some purpose not in itself unlawful by unlawful means. 15A C.J.S. Conspiracy § 1 (1). In general, to constitute civil conspiracy there must be the following elements:

(1) Two or more persons, and for this purpose a corporation is a person; (2) an object to be accomplished; (3) a meeting of minds on object or course of action; (4) one or more unlawful overt acts; and (5) damages as the proximate result thereof.

15A C.J.S. Conspiracy § 1 (2).

The Utah Supreme Court, in Crane Co. v. Dahle, Utah, 576 P 2d 870 (1978), set forth the elements as (1) wrongfully conspiring to violate the Plaintiff rights, (2) the carrying out of such plan; and (3) damages proximately caused thereby. The court further stated that the Plaintiff has the burden of proving civil conspiracy by clear and convincing evidence. Crane Co. at 872.

Fraud is defined by the court In Taylor v. Gasor Inc., Utah, 607 P 2d 293 (1980), as follows:

. . . the making of a false representation concerning a presently existing material fact which the representor either knew to be false or made recklessly without sufficient knowledge, or the omission of a material fact when there is a duty to disclose, for the purpose of inducing action on the part of the other party, with actual, justifiable reliance resulting in damage to that party.

As with civil conspiracy, the court held that a finding of fraud must be shown by clear and convincing proof and will not lie in mere suspicion or innuendo. Furthermore, a person cannot be liable for fraud unless he made the representation himself, authorized someone to make

it for him or participated in some way such as through conspiracy. 37 C.J.S. Fraud § 61.

In the present case, there is no direct evidence showing the Appellant misrepresented a material fact known to be false. There is no direct evidence showing that the lender acted for the purpose of inducing the Plaintiff to sell his home or that the Plaintiff justifiably relied upon the lender's actions. Since the lender did not, by its own actions, defraud the Plaintiff or authorize another, the lender's liability can only be established through some participation in a fraud such as in a civil conspiracy.

The facts established by the Plaintiff don't support the allegation of a civil conspiracy. The lender's acts were lawful and were conducted for a lawful purpose. The evidence showed that, other than providing the financing, the lender did not participate in the plan of Mr. Black to purchase the Plaintiff's home. There were no misrepresentations or omissions shown to have been made by Mr. Cannon through Mr. Black or by Mr. Sisk. The assumptions of the Plaintiffs agents were never expressed nor made known to the parties. Because of this, the jury's finding of

conspiracy to defraud can only rest on inferences drawn from the facts proven.

The Appellant recognizes that inferences play an important role in any findings of fact, especially in cases such as this. Inferences, however, must be reasonably and legitimately drawn. This is particularly so in cases of fraud. See 37 C.J. S. Fraud § 115. Inferences must be made for the purpose of aiding reason and not to override it. They are nothing more than the probable and natural explanation of the facts. Holland vs. Columbia Mining Co., 4 Utah 2d 303, 293 P2d 700 (1956).

In Holland, the court was faced with an appeal of a ruling on Summary Judgment that there was not a fraudulent conspiracy in the business transactions between the parties. After addressing the issue of inferences, the court stated the following:

Common sense and reason dictate that evil inferences should not be permitted to be drawn from routine business transactions where there are no other circumstances. To hold otherwise would throw the door open for attack on each and every transaction that one might enter into.

In the present case, the inferences were not reasonably and legitimately drawn. The result reached by the jury is not probable nor a natural explanation of the facts proven. This conclusion is supported by the following reasons.

1. The lender had been in contact with Mr. Black, Mr. Cannon and Mr. Sisk. These were purely business contacts. Mr. Black inquired of the availability of a loan to purchase the Plaintiff's home. A loan was extended to Mr. Cannon on the basis of the application and financial statements which he had filled out. Contact with Mr. Sisk occurred when the loan and letter of instructions were delivered to Stewart Title on the day of the closing. While the lender's contacts with Mr. Black and Mr. Cannon were before the date of closing, those contacts were after Mr. Black had negotiated for the purchase of Plaintiff's home. Mr. Black testified that the lender was not involved with his and Mr. Cannon's plans for the purchase of the home. These contacts are not enough to infer fraud.

2. The lender had dealt with Mr. Black before. This fact explains the reason for the referral of Mr. Cannon

for the loan. The success of a business depends to a large degree on the returning customer. Evil inferences here are improper.

3. The lender loaned Mr. Cannon \$32,325.00 for the purchase of Plaintiff's property. The Plaintiff's agents felt that this was a substantial deviation of the Plaintiff's agreement. Even if it were a deviation, the lender had no way of knowing of the deviation. There was no limitation of the amount to be borrowed put into writing in the agreement as should have been done by Plaintiff's agents. Furthermore, there was no representation to the Plaintiff that the amount borrowed on the property would be limited. Any "deviation" resulted from a misunderstanding between buyer and seller. The only representation made was that the \$20,000.00 down payment would have to be borrowed. The lender was never notified of any limitation whatsoever on the property. It's loan was based on representations made on Mr. Cannon's application and on the value of the security. The lender acted lawfully. Other inferences simply are unreasonable.

4. The letter of instructions which accompanied the loan check to Stewart Title required that fee simple title be in the name of Joseph N. Cannon and that the lender be secured by a first trust deed. This requirement does not indicate that the lender was trying to cheat the Plaintiff out of his property, but rather to protect its interests in the property which was being used as security for the loan which was made. Such practice is usual in the banking industry. The inference of fraud is an unnatural explanation of the facts.

5. The letter of instructions also required \$4,848.75 to be paid back to the lender. This fact is perhaps the only fact where an evil inference could be drawn. However, even here there is a more reasonable and natural explanation. It was testified that finders fees were paid for loans which resulted from referrals. It was testified that it was probable that this amount was paid as a finders fee to Mr. Black and was credited against obligations he owed to the lender. The amount was paid by Alpha Leasing at the direction of Mr. Cannon whose business dealings with Mr. Black in no way involved the lender.

6. The Plaintiff was of low intelligence.

Plaintiff's doctor testified that this fact could only be determined through testing. All those who had dealt with the Plaintiff, including his own real estate agents, felt that the Plaintiff understood and was competent to enter into the subject transaction. Even if the Plaintiff's mental capacity could be determined by observation, the lender could not have known since it never met nor was involved with the Plaintiff. Evil inferences here are improper.

7. Certain sums were deducted from the

Plaintiff's down payment and paid to the real estate agents and Stewart Title. These amounts were explained by Stewart Title and testified as being the usual and customary practice of the real estate business. There was nothing improper here to infer the jury's finding.

8. At the time of closing, Mr. Cannon was

substituted as buyer. This substitution is clear on the documents and was done according to the express provision of Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase. This fact was also explained to each party. The lender had nothing to do



with the change other than lending the money to Mr. Cannon as the buyer.

9. The Plaintiff was not made aware of the changes made at the time of closing. The evidence shows that the documents clearly indicated that Mr. Cannon was the buyer and that the remaining obligation owed to the Plaintiff was secured by a second trust deed. The legal effect of the documents executed by the parties was not disputed. Discussions were held between the Plaintiff and Mr. Sisk and Mr. Rhodes, the agent for the Plaintiff, concerning the risk involved in such a transaction. The evidence shows that an explanation or at least an opportunity to be explained existed but that the Plaintiff simply did not understand. This is underscored by the escrow documents which listed Plaintiff's daughter as representative. Although there may have been misunderstanding, information was in fact going back and forth.

10. The trust deed in favor of the lender was drafted and signed outside of the Plaintiff's presence. This was the usual practice in that the transaction between

Mr. Cannon and the lender was a separate transaction from that between Mr. Cannon and the Plaintiff.

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