1986

Israel Pagan v. Joseph N. Cannon, Dorius Black,
Alpha Leasing Company, Robert D. Apgood,
Joseph N. Cannon, Dorius Black, and Richard
McKean, Alpha Leasing Company, Bill Brown
Realty, Scott Peatross, Stewart Title Company of
Utah, Tommy W. Sisk, Capitol Thrift and Loan, and
Merlyn Hanks : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The jury unanimously found by clear and convincing evidence that Capitol Thrift & Loan, through its agent, Merlyn Hanks and its real estate promoter and finder, Dorius Black; and a judgment proof "straw man", who did business under the name and style of Joseph Cannon, and all of them, did engage in a civil conspiracy to defraud the mentally deficient Israel Pagan out of his house and lot, by engaging in a confidence game, incident to the real estate in question. The jury assessed damages in the amount of \$12,000.00 compensatory and \$4,000.00 punitive. The evidence clearly showed that Merlyn Hanks and Capitol Thrift and Loan were fully aware of the fact that the "notorious" Dorius Black was acting in concert with Joseph N. Cannon.

Capitol Thrift & Loan admittedly drafted the Trust Deed and the Note in the amount of \$32,325.00, with prescribed interest at the rate of 22%, which was to be paid in interest installments of five (5) monthly payments, followed by a single installment of \$32,518.72. Capitol Thrift & Loan, by and through its agent, Merlyn Hanks was well acquainted with Dorius Black. They had direct knowledge of his character and reputation and they participated with him in sharing a "kick back" payment of \$4,848.75, which Capitol Thrift & Loan in turn "pocketed" by claiming a payment on Dorius Black's past due account. The sale price of \$44,000.00 was never considered, once the property was deeded by Israel Pagan to Joseph Cannon. The agreement to provide Israel Pagan with a mortgage of \$24,000.00 was disregarded. Upon Joseph Cannon receiving title, Capitol Thrift &

Loan immediately encumbered the property with a \$33,225.00 Trust Deed, which was to be paid by the judgment proof Joseph Cannon as Trustor. This sum accrued interest at the rate of 22%, which was to be paid in five (5) monthly principal interest installments, followed by a single principal and interest installment of \$32,518.72. Under no circumstances could Joseph Cannon meet these terms. The wrongdoers, Merlyn Hanks, Capitol Thrift & Loan, Joseph Cannon, and Dorius Black did immediately receive the sum of \$13,471.57, over and above the agreed first mortgage price. The judgment proof promoters did pocket the money and refuse to pay on said mortgage in any respect; nor did they ever take possession of the property; they just took the funds knowing that their Trust Deeds would be foreclosed long prior to the due date on the contracts which supposedly existed between Joseph Cannon and Israel Pagan. Merlyn Hanks, as agent, servant and employee of Capitol Thrift & Loan, viewed and talked to the disfigured and mentally deficient Israel Pagan when he delivered the closing documents prior to the closing. (TR-762, 763).

The jury's verdict was amply supported by direct, obvious evidence, which clearly reflected, by clear and convincing evidence, the joint and concerted actions by the Appellants. Capitol Thrift & Loan participated in the "switching" of the buyers; the concealing and shifting of the true parties to the transaction; and with the skill and finesse of the experienced land developers, deprived the mentally demented Israel Pagan of his house and lot.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY A PLETHORA OF EVIDENCE.

The jury heard the witnesses, weighed the evidence, and made extensive findings of fact by answering special interrogatories. In every instance, the evidence sustained the jury's findings. This being the case, this Court has consistently held that it is both the prerogative and the duty of the Supreme Court to review the evidence and every inference that may be fairly and reasonably drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff; Devas v. Noble, 13 Utah 2d 133. Also Fleming v. Fleming Felt Co., 7 Utah 2d 293, 323 P.2d 712. This Court very recently held in the case of E.A. Strout Western Realty v. W. C. Foy & Sons, 665 P.2d 1320, that it is a prerogative of the jury to resolve issues of fact, and the accepted rules of appellant review preclude the Supreme Court from substitution its judgment for that of the jury on issues of fact. Citing Watters v. Querry, Utah, 626 P.2d 445 (1981). The Court stated as follows: "On appeal, we view the evidence in the light most supportive of the verdict." Citing Cintron v. Milkovich, Utah 611 P.2d 730. This Court assumes that the jury believed those aspects of the evidence which sustained its findings and judgment. Citing Gossner v. Dairymen Associates, Inc., Utah 611 P.2d 713 1980. The Court went on to say, we will upset a jury verdict only on a showing that the evidence so clearly preponderates in favor of the Appellant that reasonable people would not differ on the outcome of the case. Citing Ute-Cal Land Development v. Sather, Utah, 605 P.2d 1240 (1980).

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Israel Pagan, the Respondent herein, was an elderly man, who had been severely injured in a blasting accident while working as a powder monkey for Kennecott Copper Corporation. With the compensation that he received for his injuries, he purchased a house and lot at 118 West Locust Street, Midvale, Utah. He could not read or write the English language; and by reason of his disfigured face and head, he was commonly referred to as a rather "childish" individual. He lived for many years in the Midvale house. He only associated with Puerto Rican people; and by reason of his facial injuries, he was commonly referred to as a character. He had little or no ability to think abstractly and relied heavily upon his Puerto Rican friends in making simple and ordinary decisions. The jury quickly and correctly observed and concluded that Israel Pagan's mental equipment were such that before he was permitted to testify, a prominent psychiatrist was called to the stand and testified concerning the mentality, reasoning ability and mental condition. The psychiatrist testified that Israel Pagan would not comprehend or understand a confidence game or the real estate transaction which deprived him of his home. The Plaintiff, Israel Pagan had no memory of the transaction and held no ill will against the individuals who defrauded him of his property. (TR-271-276)

Appellants insist that the evidence is such that the jury's findings be overturned and found the other way as a matter of law. Appellants fail to acknowledge that the jury listened carefully to the witnesses for nearly three days. The jury from their advantaged position and being in close proximity to the

witnesses were given the opportunity not only to observe, hear, and exclusively judge the credibility of the witnesses but were also under proper instructions, permitted to weigh the evidence and to make special findings of fact therefrom. It was the jurors prerogative to make an appraisal of the witnesses, to know, understand and to test their capacity to tell the truth and to remember. The jury concluded that Israel Pagan was no match for the skilled land developers. There can be little doubt that Israel Pagan was "tricked out" of his property.

Appellants would have this Court believe that Merlyn Hanks, the principal loan officer of Capitol Thrift & Loan; Joseph Cannon; Dorius Black; Tommy Sisk, were completely innocent of the civil conspiracy to defraud Israel Pagan. The Appellants would have this Court disregard the physical and mental appearance of Israel Pagan. Mr. Pagan was not only mentally deficient but also physically disfigured, in that his face had been severely injured in a blasting accident. Any casual observer would have immediately recognized that Mr. Pagan would not and could not understand the real estate transaction and the buying and selling of his home. (TR-541) Any casual observer would immediately recognize the fact that Israel Pagan could not read or write the English language. A casual observer would immediately recognize the fact that his mentality was in the low-normal range. The taking of his home was in effect " like taking candy from a baby". Merlyn Hanks knew this! Dorius Black also knew this! Joseph Cannon not only knew of Israel Pagan's demented condition, but openly exploited it with the advice and counsel of Dorius Black.

TESTIMONY OF DR. WILLIAM BARRETT

In support of the foregoing, we feel compelled to set forth the testimony of Dr. William Barrett concerning the mentality and physical appearance of Israel Pagan. With regard thereto, at pages (TR-550-551), he testified as follows:

Q So would it be a fair statement to say that it's difficult to assess the actual mental capacity of an individual? You can within limits, but to assess the actual mental capacity is difficult at best?

A THERE IS NO QUESTION ABOUT THAT. AS I INFERRED, IT WAS MY OPINION, AND I ARRIVED TO MY OPINION, I DO THIS EVERY DAY. SO IT MAY BE MY OPINION IS A LITTLE BIT MORE DISCRETE, A LITTLE BETTER THAN SOMEBODY ELSE'S.

Q In your opinion, I think you said that he was in the low normal range?

A THAT'S WHAT I SAID.

Q Now, the low normal range would mean what with respect to his capabilities of understanding?

A BETWEEN 80 AND 90, HE COULD HANDLE THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE. HE COULD TAKE CARE OF HIMSELF. HE WOULD HAVE TROUBLE IN UNDERSTANDING THE FOREIGN WORD IN THE LANGUAGE FORM. HE WOULDN'T BE ABLE TO READ VERY WELL. HE WOULD PROBABLY STILL BE READING CHILDREN'S BOOKS IF HE COULD READ. HE WOULD AT LEAST BE ABLE TO WATCH TELEVISION AND UNDERSTAND WHAT THEY WERE TALKING ABOUT. HE DOES KNOW WHO THE PRESIDENT IS.

Q Apparently he was able to settle with Kennecott and buy a home?

A HE WAS ABLE TO SETTLE WITH KENNECOTT AND BUY A HOME.

Q So would it be a fair statement to say that if an individual were dealing with him through an interpreter, that that individual dealing with him would rely as much on the interpreter as Mr. Pagan would rely on the interpreter to make sure that everything was going the way it was supposed to go?

A I THINK THAT'S WHAT AN INTERPRETER IS FOR, YES.

Q So if the interpreter felt that things were right and expressed that to Mr. Pagan, then Mr. Pagan would obviously feel they were right as well?

A I WOULD AGREE WITH THAT.

Q Are you aware of what his mental capacity would have been four years ago, August 18 of 1980?

A I CAN PRESUME THAT IT WAS ABOUT THE SAME AS IT IS TODAY. WE DON'T DETERIORATE THAT FAST.

Q But that's a presumption; is it not?

A THAT IS A PRESUMPTION.

Q So you have no way of knowing whether or not he has increased or decreased since that period of time?

A I WOULD HAVE NO KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THAT.

The Court's attention is called to the jurors answers to Special Interrogatories No. 1 and 11 which are as follows:

No. 1. Did Capitol Thrift & Loan Company, through its agent, Merlyn Hanks, by clear and convincing evidence engage in a civil conspiracy to defraud plaintiff incident to the transaction in question?

Answer: YES

No. 11: If you found by clear and convincing evidence that Capital Thrift and Loan, through its agent, Merlyn Hanks, engaged in a civil conspiracy incident to the transaction in question, what damage, if any, do you find was caused to the plaintiff:

Compensatory \$12,000.00 (not to exceed \$24,000.00)

Punitive \$ 4,000.00

Merlyn Hanks and Capitol Thrift & Loan knew that Dorius Black was a land developer who engaged in such opportunities as he found available. (TR-490) They also knew that if someone brought him a profitable real estate transaction, that he would consider it. They knew that he was not a licensed real estate man. (TR-490) Merlyn Hanks knew that Dorius Black never intended to buy the Pagan home. (TR-493) Capitol Thrift & Loan participated in the division of the Pagan money by having Tommy Sisk of Stewart Title Company of Utah deduct from the purchase price, the sum of \$4,848.75, which went directly into Capitol Thrift & Loan's account. Dorius Black was paid this amount as a finders fee and this money was subsequently credited on the indebtedness that Dorius Black had supposedly incurred with Capitol Thrift & Loan.

Merlyn Hanks, as loan officer, had made an appraisal on the Pagan home. (TR-611, 624) (Exhibit 43P) Merlyn Hanks wrote a letter which is marked Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, (TR-609), which accompanied a check in the amount of \$32,325.00 (Exhibit 38) (Tr-185), both of which were given to Tommy Sisk and Stewart Title Company of Utah by Merlyn Hanks personally on the morning of the closing. The \$32,325.00 check showed Joseph Cannon as the payee and was allegedly endorsed by Joseph Cannon. (Although Joseph Cannon has denied the endorsement) See (Exhibit 38) Merlyn Hanks admitted writing the letter, preparing the check to Joseph Cannon, preparing the Trust Deeds and Notes, and instructing Stewart Title Company to disperse a check back to Capitol Thrift & Loan in the amount of \$4,848.75. (TR-615, 616, 618) Merlyn Hanks further directed Stewart Title Company of Utah to give the remainder of the funds to Joseph N. Cannon. Merlyn Hanks prepared the Trust Deed, (Exhibit P-33) and the Promissory Note (Exhibit P-32) between Joseph N. Cannon and Capitol Thrift & Loan, which provided that the \$32,325.00 was to be paid back in five installments, the interest, with a balloon payment requiring the note to be paid in full at the end of six months. Even though Merlyn Hanks appraised the home, drew all documents, prepared all letters of instructions, he denied in open court that he knew that this transaction involved Israel Pagan's home. (TR-620) He (Hanks) further denied that he knew that Joseph Cannon had proclaimed and had testified under oath that he never purchased the Pagan home, and further was unable to explain why Joseph Cannon never received any of the money from the sale; or, why Cannon claimed to be nothing more than a Guarantor of the loan. (TR-620) Merlyn Hanks testified and admitted that Capitol Thrift & Loan

foreclosed on the Trust Deed and Note under his direction (TR-628) for the sum of \$39,300.00. In addition thereto, he received approximately \$5,000.00 in the form of a payment on Dorius Black's loan. (TR-641). By the conspiracy and fraud herein Capitol Thrift and Loan obtained the Pagan home, which was worth \$44,000.00 for the sum of \$32,325.00. Merlyn Hanks admitted preparing the business loan in the name of Joseph Cannon for household or agricultural purposes. (See Exhibit 32) The Trust Deed (Exhibit 19) was allegedly signed by Joseph Cannon and notarized by Merlyn Hanks. (Joseph Cannon denies signing the foregoing described documents as a purchaser of the property and alleges that he only signed them as a Guarantor) Merlyn Hanks admits that neither Dorius Black nor Joseph Cannon ever made any payments whatsoever on the loan. (TR-646)

Joseph Cannon denies receiving any of the money from the sale of the house. He also denied that he knew that the Pagan house was to be deeded to him from Israel Pagan. He in fact testified that he had no knowledge of the contents of any of the documents that he signed; and alleges that "I don't believe that I realized all of the documents that I was signing", and that he recalls no details. He admitted that he never put one cent of his money into the transaction. He claimed no equity in the house at all. (TR-569) He further admits that he never saw the Pagan House, never looked in it, and never seen it up to and including the date of the trial. (August 22, 1984) Joseph Cannon denied that the Pagan property had ever been deeded to him and had no memory of signing of any of the Trust Deeds, including the Trust Deed to Israel Pagan. (See Exhibit 33) (TR-571) When questioned about the documents, Joseph Cannon testified as follows:

Q Do you recall signing that?

A AS I PREVIOUSLY INDICATED, I DON'T RECALL ALL OF THE DOCUMENTS THAT I SIGNED AT THAT CLOSING.

Q Or their contents, I take it?

A CORRECT. (TR-572)

Joseph Cannon freely admitted that he contributed nothing to the sale or the transaction and that all he did was go to Stewart Title and sign his name on the documents as a Guarantor and for that, he received a check in the amount of \$13,471.57. Joseph Cannon admitted that he never intended to make any payments on the house. He admits laundering the money through the Alpha Leasing account. He denies making any applications for a loan. (TR-582) He does not know what happened to the \$32,000.00. (TR-584) Joseph Cannon admits that he was very experienced in handling real estate transactions, having attended at least 10 closings prior to August 10, 1980. (TR-589) Joseph Cannon admits that he is skilled and adept in managing businesses, having been a manager partner with Alpha Leasing, Mc Kean Construction, Gritton and Associates. He further admitted that he had considerable business experience and had attended college. He admitted that he was judgment proof. (TR-561) (TR-577) (TR-857).

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